I. SUMMARY 

In the middle of an unconditional release trial, a sexually 

violent predator decided that he would be better off seeking a less 

restrictive placement rather than unconditional release. 4 Trial RP 

297 -98. He therefore entered into an agreement to abandon the 

trial. Both he and the prosecutor agreed to use their best efforts to 

obtain a less restrictive placement alternative. The prosecutor 

agreed that he would not challenge any recommendation from the 

Special Commitment Center for less restrictive placement. Mr. 

Brock agreed not to seek unconditional release for four years. This 

included any unconditional release that might be recommended by

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

(1) The trial court erred in entering an order vacating 

judgment. 

(2) The court erred in striking a portion of a judicially

approved settlement agreement. 

III. ISSUES 

(1) During a trial on the release of a sexually violent 

predator, the parties entered into a settlement that provided for a 

minimum period of treatment. The court approved this settlement. 

Can a later judge strike a key portion of this agreement as contrary 

to public policy? 

(2) If the later judge was entitled to consider public policy, 

did he correctly determine that public policy allows this sexually 

violent predator to seek unconditional release, where there is no 

evidence to satisfy the statutory requirements of either a significant 

3 



change in physiological condition or a positive response to 

participation in treatment? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. INITIAL COMMITMENT AND DENIALS OF RELEASE. 

In March, 1991, the State filed a petition to declare the 

respondent, Louis Brock, a sexually violent predator (SVP). 3 CP 

365-66. The case was assigned to Hon. Gerald L. Knight. He 

presided over it for more than 19 years. See 2 CP 235. 

In December, 1991, Mr. Brock was determined to be an SVP 

and committed for treatment. 3 CP 540. This court remanded the 

case for consideration of less restrictive alternatives. 3 CP 509-34. 

On remand, the trial court ruled that Mr. Brock's proposed 

treatment plan did not satisfy statutory requirements. It again 

entered an order of commitment, and this court affirmed. 3 CP 489, 

470-82; In re Brock, 99 Wn. App. 722, 995 P.2d 111, review 

denied, 141 Wn.2d 1025 (2000). 

On five subsequent occasions, the court reviewed the case 

and refused to order a release hearing. 3 CP 356-60 (denying 2004 

petition for unconditional release), 452-54 (2004 annual review); 

448-51 (2005 annual review), 434-37 (2006 annual review); 426-28 

(2007 annual review). Two of these orders were appealed, and this 
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court affirmed them. 3 CP 438-47; In re Brock, 126 Wn. App. 957, 

110 P.3d 791 (2005) (affirming 2004 order denying release); 2 CP 

292-300 (affirming order on 2006 annual review). 

B. 2010 TRIAL AND SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT. 

In November, 2007, Mr. Brock obtained an evaluation from 

Dr. Richard Wollert. This evaluation concluded that Mr. Brock was 

no longer likely to engage in sexually violent predatory acts if 

released. 3 CP 417-25. Based on this evaluation, the court ordered 

a trial. 2 CP 305-06. 

After lengthy pre-trial proceedings, the trial began on March 

1, 2010. A jury was selected and heard a day of testimony. The 

State's primary witness was Dr. Paul Spizman of the Special 

Commitment Center (SCC). He testified to Mr. Brock's offense 

history, which included four rapes or attempted rapes. 3 Trial RP 

189-94.1 He pointed out that, in his 18 years at SCC, Mr. Brock had 

never engaged in treatment to any significant extent. 3 Trial RP 

188. When Dr. Spizman interviewed Mr. Brock in 2009, Mr. Brock 

denied ever committing a sexual offense. 3 Trial RP 289-90. Dr. 

Spizman concluded that Mr. Brock had a mental abnormality and 

1 "Trial RP" refers to the report of proceedings covering the 
trial on March 1-4,2010. 
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personality disorder that made him likely to commit further sexually 

violent acts if released. 3 Trial RP 236-37. 

The next morning, March 4, the parties advised the court 

that they were negotiating a settlement. Mr. Brock's attorney 

explained that the testimony had been an "eye-opening experience" 

for Mr. Brock. He had never heard his history reviewed in such 

compact detail and with Dr. Spizman's interpretation. As a result, 

Mr. Brock realized that he needed to "get his life together" and 

"make some changes." "[R]ather than throwing the dice with this 

jury and having an order entered potentially denying him 

unconditional release, he would like to put his energies and have 

me focus my energies towards getting him into an LRA [less 

restrictive alternative]." 4 Trial RP 297-98. Another attorney for Mr. 

Brock later said that at this point in the trial, "everybody" told Mr. 

Brock that it was going very badly and that he was going to lose. 

3/16/12 RP 17. 

Following further negotiations, the parties announced a 

settlement agreement. 2 CP 232-35 (appendix A). Under this 

agreement, Mr. Brock agreed to abandon the trial and not have the 

jury decide the issues. He stipulated that he continued to meet the 

definition of an SVP. He said that he wanted to "pursue best efforts 
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to be placed in a less restrictive placement alternative." The 

prosecutor agreed to use best efforts to help Mr. Brock and his 

attorney "explore, develop and craft an appropriate less restrictive 

placement alternative, which satisfies the requirements of the law 

and is acceptable to the SCC and the Department of Corrections." 

The prosecutor informed the court that, if the SCC recommended 

an LRA, he was agreeing not to challenge that recommendation. 4 

RP 306. 

6): 

The agreement included the following provision (paragraph 

Mr. Brock, having fully consulted with his attorney, 
does intelligently, knowingly and voluntarily further 
agree to waive his statutory and any constitutional 
right to seek, petition or accept an unconditional 
release or removal of his designation as a Sexually 
Violent Predator for a period of four (4) years from the 
date of this Order. 

2 CP 234. 

The prosecutor informed the court that this was a "key 

provision." He explained its purpose: 

The clear implication is we don't want to litigate all this 
each year. If we're going to do it, let's do it now. 

4 Trial RP 304-05. The prosecutor pointed out that even if the SCC 

recommended Mr. Brock's release, Mr. Brock was agreeing not to 

accept that recommendation. 4 Trial RP 306-07. 
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In open court, the prosecutor explained the agreement 

paragraph by paragraph. 4 Trial RP 301-07. The judge then 

questioned Mr. Brock about his understanding and acceptance of 

the agreement. 4 Trial RP 309-12. This included a specific review 

of paragraph 6. The judge again pointed out that this provision 

precluded Mr. Brock from seeking unconditional release, even if it 

was recommended by the see. Mr. Brock said that he understood 

and agreed to that. 4 Trial RP 311-12. 

The judge told Mr. Brock that he had sometimes been "his 

own worst enemy" because of his inability to communicate and 

exchange information with people at the sec. He reminded Mr. 

Brock of his agreement to exercise his own best efforts towards 

release into an LRA "It's nice to enter into this agreement, but if 

nobody is going to exercise their best efforts, then it's really a waste 

oftime." 4 Trial RP 312-13. 

The judge approved the agreement. He specifically found 

that the agreement was in the interest of justice. 4 Trial RP 313. 

The judge then discharged the jurors, informing them that the 

matter had been settled by agreement. 4 Trial RP 316-18. 
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C. VACATION OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT. 

Nine months later, in November, 2010, the SCC submitted a 

new evaluation signed by Dr. Spizman. 2 CP 202-31. Between the 

time of the settlement and this report, Mr. Brock had not engaged in 

any sex offender specific treatment. 2 CP 207. Nor had there been 

any substantial change in his physiological condition. 2 CP 205. 

Dr. Spizman nevertheless concluded that Mr. Brock was no longer 

an SVP. This was based solely on his increased age: 

Overall, Mr. Brock presents as a man who once 
posed a considerable risk of reoffense. However, with 
increasing age, he appears to no longer warrant a 
paraphilia diagnosis. Furthermore, while still active in 
antisocial behaviors, as would be expected with age 
these have also diminished when compared with his 
younger years. Thus I am unable to clearly identify an 
underlying mental abnormality/personality disorder 
that would meet the criteria necessary for Mr. Brock to 
be civilly committed as a Sexually Violent Predator. 
Furthermore, I question the degree of risk he poses, 
and I cannot state he continues to be more likely than 
not to reoffend sexually if released unconditionally 
from confinement. 

[W]hat is missing is compelling evidence to offset the 
strong data that indicates as a man ages they decline 
in risk of sexual recidivism. Without that compelling 
evidence, I have little to indicate that Mr. Brock will 
not follow this typical pattern. 

2 CP 224. 
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Based on this report, Mr. Brock sought an unconditional 

release trial. 1 CP 127-75. In response, the State pOinted out that 

Mr. Brock had waived his right to do this. 1 CP 113-26. The case 

was assigned to a new judge, Hon. Richard Okrent. Mr. Brock 

moved to strike or withdraw that portion of his agreement. 1 CP 90-

95. 

In responding to this motion, the prosecutor provided some 

further background about the purposes of the 2010 agreement. 

From Mr. Brock's point of view, conditional release to an LRA 

appeared more advantageous than unconditional release. "An 

unconditional release would have placed Mr. Brock back in the 

community, without resources or treatment, after decades of 

incarceration and confinement." The State was likewise concerned 

about "Mr. Brock's ability to function and not reoffend if given an 

immediate, outright, unconditional release." Maintaining supervision 

required retaining the SVP designation. "The four year term 

recognized the time it might take for the [LRA] program to be 

created and for Mr. Brock to receive sufficient benefits." 1 CP 63. 

Notwithstanding this explanation, the court determined that 

Mr. Brock's promise not to seek unconditional release for four years 

violated public policy. This was because it "allowed continued 

10 



confinement of Mr. Brock when he no longer meets the definition of 

a SVP." 1 CP 42. The court believed that this constituted an 

"extraordinary circumstance" that justified modifying the agreed 

judgment under CR 60(b)(11). 1 CP 45. The court therefore granted 

the motion to strike. 1 CP 37-47, 25-36. (The court's memorandum 

opinion is set out in Appendix B.) The State is appealing from that 

order. 1 CP 1. 

V. ARGUMENT 

A. AFTER A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT HAS BEEN 
APPROVED BY THE COURT AND IMPLEMENTED BY THE 
PARTIES, IT IS NOT SUBJECT TO RECONSIDERATION ON 
PUBLIC POLICY GROUNDS. 

1. A Judgment Entered By Stipulation Cannot Be Vacated 
Absent A Showing Of Fraud Or Mutual Mistake. 

The trial court approved a settlement agreement, finding that 

it was in the interest of justice. 4 Trial RP 313. Two years later, a 

different judge invalidated a key portion of the agreement, because 

he considered it to be contrary to public policy. This was error. A 

judge's disagreement with his predecessor's actions is not a proper 

basis for setting aside a stipulated judgment. 

"[T]he law favors amicable settlement of disputes and is 

inclined to clothe them with finality." Haller v. Wallis, 89 Wn.2d 539, 

545,573 P.2d 1302 (1978). 
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If the judgment conforms to the agreement or 
stipulation, it cannot be changed or altered or set 
aside without the consent of the parties unless it is 
properly made to appear that it was obtained by fraud 
or mutual mistake or that consent was not in fact 
given, which is practically the same thing. 

kl at 544; see Handley v. Mortland, 54 Wn.2d 489, 493-94, 342 

P.2d 612 (1959); Snyder v. Tompkins, 20 Wn. App. 167, 173, 579 

P.2d 994, review denied, 91 Wn.2d 1001 (1978). 

Here, the agreement was negotiated by attorneys who had 

been working on the case for two years. 1 Trial RP 6. The 

negotiations specifically addressed the possibility that the SCC 

might recommend release. 4 Trial RP 306. Before accepting the 

agreement, the judge questioned Mr. Brock to ensure that he 

understood it and agreed to it. 4 Trial RP 309-12. The judge 

specifically called Mr. Brock's attention to the provision delaying his 

ability to seek or accept unconditional release. 4 Trial RP 311. 

There is no showing of fraud, mutual mistake, or lack of consent. 

Consequently, there is no valid legal basis for modifying the 

stipulated judgment. 

The later judge believed that his action was justified by CR 

60(b)(11). That rule allows a court to grant relief from a final 

judgment based on U[a]ny other reason justifying relief from the 
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operation of the judgment." A court's decision under this rule is 

reviewed for abuse of discretion. A court abuses its discretion if its 

decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds 

or reasons. If a ruling is based on an erroneous view of the law, it is 

necessarily an abuse of discretion. Questions of law are reviewed 

de novo. In re Marriage of Herridge, 169 Wn. App. 290, 296-97 ,-r14, 

279 P.3d 956 (2012) (citation omitted). When there is no showing of 

fraud or mutual mistake, vacating a stipulated judgment is an abuse 

of discretion. In re Marriage of Burkey, 36 Wn. App. 487, 675 P.2d 

619 (1984). 

CR 60(b}(11} does not authorize courts to vacate judgments 

based on disagreements with their policy. "CR 60(b}( 11} applies 

only in extraordinary circumstances relating to irregularities which 

are extraneous to the action of the court or go to the question of the 

regularity of its proceedings." Barr v. MacGugan, 119 Wn. App, 43, 

48, 78 P.3d 660 (2003); see Haller, 89 Wn.2d at 543 (defining 

"irregularity" under CR 60(b}(1)). An error of law is not an 

"irregularity" and does not justify vacating a judgment. State v. 

Keller, 32 Wn. App. 135, 140, 647 P2d 35 (1982). (Although Keller 

was a criminal case, it was decided under CR 60(b )(11). Keller, 32 
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Wn. App. at 139; see State v. Scott, 92 Wn.2d 209, 595 P.2d 549 

(1979).) 

"Whether the terms of a [settlement] agreement are unfair is 

a legal issue which must be raised on appeal - not a motion to 

vacate the decree." In re Marriage of Moody, 137 Wn.2d 979, 991, 

976 P.2d 124 (1999). The original trial judge was entitled to 

disapprove the agreement if he considered it to be contrary to 

public policy or improper for any other reason. Had he done so, the 

parties could have attempted to negotiate a different agreement, or 

they could have simply proceeded with the trial that was in 

progress. When the agreement is set aside years later, the parties 

are deprived of these options. The propriety of a settlement should 

be determined before it is consummated, not years later. 

Parties are entitled to rely on the judicial approval of a 

settlement. Here, the State abandoned its right to a jury trial in 

reliance on promises by Mr. Brock. The court then allowed him to 

repudiate the promises that the State relied on in taking this action. 

This is unfair. If the original judge's action truly violated public 

policy, it constituted an error of law. Such an error can only be 

corrected via appeal. It cannot support vacation of a judgment. 
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2. Even When Settlement Agreements Have Not Been 
Judicially Approved, They Can Include Provisions That Would 
Otherwise Be Contrary To Public Policy. 

Even if this case involved a mere contract rather than a 

judgment, the result would be the same - the contract could not be 

invalidated as contrary to public policy. A settlement contract may 

include provisions that would otherwise violate public policy, so 

long as they relate to matters arising out of the dispute. Two cases 

illustrate this point: Helgeson v. Marysville, 75 Wn. App. 174, 881 

P.2d 1042 (1994), and Chadwick v. Northwest Airlines, Inc., 33 Wn. 

App. 297, 654 P.2d 1215 (1982), aff'd, 100 Wn.2d 221, 667 P.2d 

1104 (1983). 

In Helgeson, a city employee sought disability retirement. 

The city claimed that he was not disabled. The parties agreed to a 

settlement under which the city withdrew its challenge to the 

employee's retirement. In return, the employee agreed to waive his 

statutory right to future medical benefits from the city. Several years 

later, the employee developed severe medical problems caused by 

his work for the city. He sought medical benefits under the public 

employee retirement statute. 

This court upheld the employee's waiver of statutory 

benefits. The court recognized an express legislative policy against 
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waiver of retirement benefits. Nonetheless, because the right to 

receive the benefits was not vested, the employee could waive 

them as part of a settlement agreement. Under these 

circumstances, this waiver was not contrary to public policy. 

Helgeson, 75 Wn. App. at 182-84. 

In Chadwick, a company fired an employee after denying his 

request for extended sick leave. The employee claimed that his 

firing constituted discrimination based on handicap. Following a 

grievance procedure, the company agreed to reinstate him. The 

employee agreed that he would limit his amount of sick leave. 

When he took excessive sick leave, the company fired him again. 

He sued, claiming that the agreement itself constituted an unlawful 

act of handicap discrimination. 

This court upheld the agreement: 

A release generally extends to all matters within the 
parties' contemplation at the time it is executed. 

An employee may release claims arising from 
antecedent discriminatory events, acts, patterns, or 
practices, or the "continuing" or "future" effects 
thereof, so long as such effects are causally rooted -
in origin, logic, and factual experience - in 
discriminatory acts or practices which antedate the 
execution of the release. 

Chadwick, 33 Wn. App. at 302 (citations omitted). In affirming this 

decision, the Supreme Court said that the agreement was proper 
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because it "did not waive claims for future discriminatory acts." kL., 

100 Wn.2d at 223. 

Under the analysis of Chadwick, a settlement agreement 

does not provide carte blanche for any future acts that might violate 

public policy. It does, however, give the parties broad authority to 

address the future consequences of the disputed issue. In doing so, 

it can authorize acts that could otherwise be viewed as violating 

public policy. 

Here, the disputed issue at the 2010 trial was whether Mr. 

Brock continued to meet the requirements for detention as an SVP. 

If he did, he was subject to detention until such time as his 

condition changed. RCW 71.09.090(1), (2). Change takes time. 

The negotiated four-year period provided the minimum time 

necessary for a community treatment program to be created and for 

Mr. Brock to receive sufficient benefits from it. 1 CP 63. 

The defendant's expert believed that Mr. Brock's age put him 

outside the statutory definition of an SVP. 2 Trial RP 110. There 

was every reason to anticipate that he would continue to hold the 

same views. If the trial had simply been abandoned, the probable 

result would have been another trial on the same issues within a 

short time. The prosecutor was not willing to accept a "settlement" 
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that would result in the rapid renewal of the same litigation. 4 Trial 

RP 304-05. Because of these considerations, the provision 

delaying unconditional release was "causally rooted," as a matter of 

logic and experience, in the events that gave rise to the dispute. 

Consequently, this provision was a proper part of the settlement 

agreement. 

Ultimately, every settlement agreement resolves conflicting 

issues of public policy. In a case involving money damages, for 

example, there is a public policy that persons who have been the 

victims of a legal wrong should receive full compensation. See 

Jones v. Firemen's Relief & Pension Bd., 48 Wn. App, 262, 268, 

738 P.2d 1068 (1987). On the other hand, there is a public policy 

encouraging settlement. City of Seattle v. Blum, 134 Wn.2d 243, 

258, 947 P.2d 223 (1997). If a later court is permitted to re-weigh 

these policies, no settlement would be secure. 

In the present case, the purpose of the 2010 trial was to 

resolve conflicting public policies: the policy of detaining and 

treating sexually violent predators, and the policy of releasing 

people who are not sexually violent predators. Instead of accepting 

a jury's resolution of this conflict, the parties reached their own 

accommodation. Their agreement provided a specified minimum 
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period of treatment. That treatment could be in either the SCC or a 

less restrictive alternative, depending on future circumstances. This 

compromise cannot properly be set aside based on the assumption 

that Mr. Brock is not a sexually violent predator. The court was not 

entitled to re-weigh the conflicting public policy considerations that 

were implicit in the agreement. 

B. EVEN IF THE COURT WERE ENTITLED TO RE-WEIGH 
PUBLIC POLICY, THERE IS NO PUBLIC POLICY OF 
RELEASING SEXUALLY VIOLENT PREDATORS WITHOUT 
TREATMENT. 

Even if the second judge was empowered to re-examine 

issues of public policy, he did so incorrectly. The judge perceived a

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