NO. 68664-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

In re Detention of Louis Brock,

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant,

۷.

LOUIS BROCK,

Respondent.



ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable Richard T. Okrent, Judge

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ERIC BROMAN Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 E Madison Street Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ISSUES IN RESPONSE

١

1. Where RCW 71.09 is an involuntary commitment scheme, did the trial court correctly conclude the parties could not agree to Respondent Louis Brock's continued commitment where the state's annual reports concluded he did not meet the commitment criteria?

2. Does the state's reading of RCW 71.09.090 conflict with constitutional principles and rules of statutory construction?

3. Did the trial court properly set aside the stipulation where the parties lacked authority to agree to Brock's continued commitment?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent Brock was committed under RCW 71.09 in 1991. On March 4, 2010, he was in the middle of a trial to determine the propriety of a less restrictive alternative to complete incarceration. The state relied on the testimony of Dr. Paul Spizman as the state's expert. Spizman is an evaluator who works at the Special Commitment Center (SCC). CP 233.

Before the defense presented its case, the parties entered an agreement that ended the trial. The agreement required the state to use its "best efforts" to work with Brock to explore, develop, and craft an appropriate less restrictive placement alternative, "which satisfies the requirements of the law and is acceptable to the SCC and the Department of Corrections [sic]." CP 234.

In exchange, Brock agreed to waive his "statutory and any constitutional right to seek, petition or accept an unconditional release or removal of his designation as a Sexually Violent Predator^[1] for a period of four (4) years from the date of this order." CP 234, ¶ 6. Brock also agreed to waive his right "to use public funds to hire an expert to challenge his status as a SVP for 45 months from the date of this Order." CP 235.

The state's "best efforts" – whatever they might have been – bore no fruit.² But Brock did not expend public funds to challenge his continued commitment status under RCW 71.09. Instead, the state's own expert, Dr. Spizman, did that for him.

•

¹ State's capitalization.

² Brock's response to the state's brief supports the conclusion that the state did little, if anything, to support its end of this one-sided "bargain." CP 90-95, 96-112.

In the statutorily required annual review³ conducted in October 2010, Dr. Spizman as the state's evaluator determined Brock no longer met the criteria for continued involuntary commitment. CP 148. For reasons not clearly stated in the current record, no trial was requested or held at that time.⁴

In the October 2011 annual review, Dr. Spizman again opined that Brock no longer met criteria for continued commitment under RCW 71.09. CP 127-201.

On November 9, 2011, Brock filed a memorandum in support of an unconditional release trial. With Spizman's undisputed evaluation providing probable cause, Brock asserted a trial was required by RCW 71.09.090(2)(c)(ii)(A) and <u>In re Detention of</u> <u>Petersen</u>, 145 Wn.2d 789, 42 P.3d 952 (2002). CP 127-30.

³ RCW 71.09.070. The annual review also is an important procedure necessary to allow this allegedly "civil" preventive detention scheme to survive constitutional scrutiny. <u>See</u> argument 1.d., <u>infra</u>.

⁴ The state's brief in the trial court asserts prior defense counsel "felt compelled" not to seek a trial because of the agreement to abandon the previous trial. CP 116.

The state opposed Brock's request, citing the agreement to abandon the 2010 trial. Under the state's view, Brock should not be allowed to "accept" the annual review's conclusion, request a trial, or "accept an unconditional release from the SCC." CP 234.

In response, Brock raised two main claims. First, the agreement lacked consideration and was unenforceable. The state's "best efforts" promise was illusory at its inception, and in its ultimate failure. CP 99-101. Second, any waiver of the right to release was not constitutionally valid. The trial court was bound to uphold the constitution, not any agreement. CP 101-04.

In response, trial counsel for the state offered his own affidavit setting forth the facts that he believed might be shown, if the state's counsel were allowed to testify. Based on those alleged facts, the state argued the agreement was a stipulated "settlement." Citing civil cases far afield from RCW 71.09, the state argued such settlements are encouraged for their "finality." CP 53-54.

The state then argued this "settlement" could only be set aside under the terms of CR 60(b). According to the state's theory, this "settlement" had thus become a "final judgment." CP 55-56.

In reply, Brock argued a stipulation to keep someone "civilly" committed beyond statutory and constitutional limits is not

-4-

enforceable where there is no evidence to support Brock's continued detention. CP 49-50.

×

The trial court heard oral arguments on March 16, 2012. On April 5, the court entered two written orders. One, drafted by defense counsel, struck paragraph 6 of the agreement to abandon trial. CP 25-36.

That order recognized the constitutional limitations of indefinite "civil" commitment. The state may only commit a person who is currently mentally ill and who is currently dangerous. CP 29-31.

The court then analyzed the stipulation under CR 2A and determined the agreement was contrary to law and not enforceable. The agreement unconstitutionally usurped the court's authority to determine the validity of Brock's continued commitment. It violates public policy by allowing continued confinement even though Brock no longer met criteria for confinement. The court did not find the agreement unconscionable. At the state's suggestion, the court determined that CR 60(b)(11) provided the procedural vehicle to set aside the agreement and grant relief. CP 30-36.

In its conclusion, the order stated Brock "will be allowed to petition for and accept an unconditional release from the Washington Special Commitment Center." CP 36.

-5-

After preliminary pleadings in this Court, Commissioner Neel determined the state could appeal the order as a matter of right.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

.

1. NO AUTHORITY ALLOWS A PERSON TO AGREE TO VOLUNTARY COMMITMENT WHEN THE STATE FAILS TO MAKE A PRIMA FACIE SHOWING THAT THE PERSON CONTINUES TO MEET COMMITMENT CRITERIA.

The trial court correctly resolved the statutory, constitutional, and policy issues. Its order should be affirmed.

The state asserts the trial court erred for three reasons. BOA at 2-3. Two foundational problems plague the state's claims. The first is substantive, the second procedural.

First, RCW 71.09 is an involuntary commitment scheme. No statutory authority allows a person to voluntarily commit himself when the state cannot show the person still meets statutory and constitutional requirements for continued commitment. Second, the stipulation was not a "judgment" and a trial court has the power to set aside stipulations that exceed the state's statutory authority.

Finally, the state asserts the trial court could not vacate a settlement agreement based on public policy concerns. BOA at 19-24. But more than public policy is at issue here.

A reviewing court will normally avoid deciding constitutional questions if a decision may be entered on statutory grounds. <u>Isla</u> <u>Verde Intern. Holdings, Inc. v. City of Camas</u>, 146 Wn.2d 740, 752, 49 P.3d 867 (2002). The construction of statutes is a question of law. <u>In</u> <u>re Detention of Brock</u>, 99 Wn. App. 722, 724, 995 P.2d 111 (2000). Brock therefore first discusses why the trial court's order correctly interprets Washington statutes. The order also ensures that the state complies with well-settled constitutional obligations. This Court may reject the state's appeal and affirm the trial court's order on any grounds apparent in the record. <u>State v. Costich</u>, 152 Wn.2d 463, 477, 98 P.3d 795 (2004).

•

a. <u>The State's 71.09 Commitment Scheme Does</u> Not Allow Voluntary Commitment by Stipulation.

The state's substantive position fails because it assumes a person may volunteer for continued commitment when the state fails to justify involuntary commitment. With one inapplicable and limited exception, Chapter 71.09 does not authorize agreements for voluntary commitment when the state fails to meet its burden of production to show the person meets commitment criteria.

Chapter 71.09 is a detailed statutory scheme that allows openended involuntary commitment of people who meet narrowly defined statutory criteria. Because the scheme results in a "massive curtailment of liberty," the statute is strictly construed. <u>In re Detention</u> <u>of Hawkins</u>, 169 Wn.2d 796, 801, 238 P.3d 1175 (2010).

Courts have upheld the continuing scheme because at least once per year the state must establish the person still meets commitment criteria. RCW 71.09.070; WAC 388-880-031; <u>State v.</u> <u>McCuistion</u>, 174 Wn.2d 369, 385, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012), <u>cert. denied</u>, 133 S. Ct. 1460 (2013); <u>In re Detention of Moore</u>, 167 Wn.2d 113, 125 n.3, 216 P.3d 1015 (2009); <u>In re Detention of Ambers</u>, 160 Wn.2d 543, 548, 158 P.3d 1144 (2007); <u>In re Detention of Cherry</u>, 166 Wn. App. 70, 75, 271 P.3d 259 (2011); <u>In re Detention of Mitchell</u>, 160 Wn. App. 669, 677, 249 P.3d 662 (2011). The annual review process serves to identify those detainees who are no longer mentally ill and dangerous, and who may be released unconditionally or to a less restrictive alternative. <u>McCuistion</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 388-89.

The state's argument begins with the unstated assumption that a person can voluntarily choose to remain at the SCC even when the state's annual report concludes the person does not meet commitment criteria. When this flawed foundation is exposed, the state's argument topples.

-8-

The sole authority for voluntary commitment is in RCW 71.09.080(7). Normally, when a "petition is dismissed, or a trier of fact determines that [the] person does not meet civil commitment criteria," the person must be released within 24 hours. RCW 71.09.080(7). A narrow exception allows a later release "by agreement of the person who is the subject of the petition." Id. In other words, when the state cannot prove the person meets commitment criteria, the statute allows a person to voluntarily remain at the SCC for a short time so the person can make arrangements for another place to stay.

Nothing in the statute envisions a four-year period of voluntary commitment like the state proposes here. No other language in Chapter 71.09 allows the state or a committed person to agree to ongoing commitment beyond an annual review that concludes the person does not meet commitment criteria.

-9-

The legislature knows how to write laws authorizing voluntary commitments for mental health reasons.⁵ Its use of different language to construct its different 71.09 scheme shows a different legislative intent. "[I]t is an 'elementary rule that where the Legislature uses certain statutory language in one instance, and different language in another, there is a difference in legislative intent." <u>State v. Jackson</u>, 137 Wn.2d 712, 724, 976 P.2d 1229 (1999) (quoting <u>United Parcel Serv., Inc. v. Dep't of Revenue</u>, 102 Wn.2d 355, 362, 687 P.2d 186 (1984)). In addition, by expressing a limited exception in .080(7), the legislature excluded others. <u>In re Detention of Martin</u>, 163 Wn.2d 501, 510, 182 P.3d 951 (2008) (applying the settled rule of construction, "expressio unius est exclusio alterius).

In short, the state has cited no authority in the trial court or this Court that would permit the parties to stipulate to a person's continued commitment at the SCC without the state's ongoing obligation to show the person continues to meet commitment criteria. The SCC is not a

⁵ <u>See e.g.</u>, RCW 71.05.050 (authorizing voluntary inpatient treatment); RCW 71.05.210 (authorizing referral "for further care on a voluntary basis"); RCW 71.05.260(1)(d) (allowing continued intensive treatment on voluntary basis); RCW 71.05.380 (affording voluntarily detained persons the same statutory rights as involuntarily detained persons); RCW 71.12.560 (allowing voluntary patients in private institutions).

voluntary hotel with three squares a day; its rooms and board instead are intended for people the state proves belong there.⁶

.

b. <u>Annual Review Cannot be Waived</u>

Another flawed assumption undermines the state's argument. The state broadly asserts Brock could waive his right to petition for release under "71.09.090." BOA at 24. While this may be true under subsection .090(2), it is not true under subsection .090(1).

To explain, subsection .090 provides two paths leading to a petition for release. The first path under .090(1) is simple. "If the secretary determines that the person's condition has so changed" that the person no longer meets the criteria for continued commitment, "the secretary <u>shall</u> authorize" a petition to the court for unconditional discharge. "The petition <u>shall</u> be filed with the court" and served on the relevant prosecuting agency. RCW 71.09.090(1) (emphasis added). "Upon receipt of the petition" the court "shall within forty-five days order a hearing." RCW 71.09.090(1).

This hearing, <u>i.e.</u> a trial, is not discretionary. As a general rule, the word "shall" in a statute imposes a mandatory duty. <u>Goldmark v.</u>

⁶ As the state often complains to the media, taxpayers pay significant amounts to run the state's 71.09 scheme. <u>See e.g.</u>, CP 69-89.

McKenna, 172 Wn.2d 568, 259 P.3d 1095 (2011). It is no surprise

that the Supreme Court summarized subsection (1) like this:

If, in the course of its annual review, DSHS finds that the individual's condition has changed such that he no longer meets the definition of a SVP or conditional release to a less restrictive alternative would be appropriate, DSHS <u>must</u> authorize the individual to petition for unconditional discharge or conditional release to a less restrictive alternative. RCW 71.09.090 1). The court <u>must</u> order an evidentiary hearing upon receipt of the petition. <u>Id</u>.

McCuistion, 174 Wn.2d at 379 (emphasis added).

The second path to petition for release, under .090(2), is more difficult for the committed person. When the secretary's annual report concludes the person still meets commitment criteria, the person may nonetheless petition the court to determine whether a trial is warranted. But a trial need not occur unless (i) the report fails to present a prima facie case, or (ii) the person clears the hurdle of a show cause hearing by showing "probable cause" that "the person's condition has so changed that he or she no longer meets the definition of a sexually violent predator[.]" RCW 71.09.090(2)(a), (c).⁷

⁷ <u>McCuistion</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 380 ("The court must order an evidentiary hearing if the State fails to meet its burden or, alternatively, the individual establishes probable cause to believe his 'condition has so changed' that he no longer meets the definition of a SVP or that conditional release to a less restrictive alternative would be appropriate.") (citing, inter alia, RCW 71.09.090(2)(a)).

The right to petition under .090(2) may be affirmatively waived, as may the show cause hearing. But no similar language in .090(1) allows the petition to be waived when the secretary's annual report concludes the person no longer meets commitment criteria. Again, the different language shows a different legislative intent. In short, where the annual report does not justify continued commitment, the Legislature requires a trial on the petition.

The statute is as simple as it looks. When the annual report meets the state's burden of production to justify continued commitment, the burden then shifts to the defense to show "probable cause" to justify a trial. But when the annual report does not meet the state's burden, a trial is required.

Stated another way, subsection .090(1) grants the secretary authority to determine whether a committed person has so changed that he no longer meets the definition of a sexually violent predator, and provides no procedure for judicial inquiry into that determination. In contrast, subsection .090(2) grants show cause authority to the trial court and sets out a specific procedure the court must follow to make that determination.

The simplicity is not surprising, because the state bears the burden to justify continued commitment when it confines a person

-13-

involuntarily. Our constitution demands this.⁸ The constitution is not just persuasive policy, it is the supreme law of the land.

c. <u>A Person Need not Show A Physiological or</u> <u>Treatment-Based Change When the State's</u> <u>Annual Review Concludes the Person No Longer</u> <u>Meets Commitment Criteria</u>.

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